WOOH

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

1992 CLERK SUPREME COURT

MAR 9 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

MARIO ROA,

Respondent

Case. No. 77,612

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID R. GEMMER Assistant Attorney General 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Roa was on probation for the near fatal beating of the teenaged daughter of family friends when she found him burglarizing their home. She was left with permanent brain damage and the threat of future deterioration of brain function. R96-97.

Judge Coe had originally sentenced Roa to 55 years in prison, R46, but the Second District reversed and remanded for sentenching within the guiidelines because none of the reasons for departure were valid. Roa v. State, 512 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) (copy attached). He violated probation by failing a urinalysis for marijuana and admitting to using it, R9, but the violation was handled by probation officers by placing him in a drug education program. R94.

In the second violation, he pled guilty to driving under the influence and driving with a suspended license. The affidavit of violation also charged possessing a firearm and carrying a concealed firearm, R12. In preparation for a hearing on the violation, detectives wrote a letter stating Roa had offered substantial assistance in drug investigations. R49. Again, there appears to have been no formal adjudication on the probation violation, although Roa did plead guilty to the two charges. At the hearing on the violation, Roa admitted possessing the firearm, claiming he needed it for protection after being shot during a neighborhood gun battle. R47-48.

In a third violation, Roa was charged with kidnapping,

carrying a concealed firearm, aggravated battery, and attempted murder. R44. Roa confronted Miss Brooks, his girlfriend, at a bar and took her to his car at gunpoint. A girlfriend of Brooks also got in the car, and, in a struggle, Roa's gun discharges and shoots out the windshield. Brooks' friend escaped, and Roa drove Brooks to a house. Brooks' mother comes to the house, and Roa points the However, the victims signed waivers of gun at her. R44-45. Brooks later said she waived prosecution prosecution. R45. because Roa was the father of her unborn child. R75. The trial judge converted Roa's probation to community control and modified the terms of supervision. R52-53. However, Judge Coe noted that he would "continue him on life, fifteen and five probation." R52. The reason for leniency was the letter from detectives regarding Roa's substantial assistance, written before the kidnapping incident. R51. Judge Coe specifically ordered that the kidnapping episode be documented, although he wasn't going to do anything about it at that time because of the leniency request from detectives. R51. Judge Coe stated he expected Roa to walk away from all confrontations, no matter how wrong the other person was, because "I am very worried about him killing someone." R52.

Finally, Roa stormed into the bottle club where his common law wife was entertaining another gentleman, and proceeded to yell at her, although he did not touch her. R75-76. He was, therefore, in a place where alcoholic beverages were served, at a time when he was supposed to be at home.

Judge Coe's departure order notes the severe trauma to the

young girl in the underlying burglary/aggravated battery case, the marijuana violation, the armed kidnapping, assault, and attempted murder of Brooks and her mother, and the appearance at the bottle club. Based on these four separate incidents, Judge Coe listed the following reasons for departure:

- 1. The defendant is not amenable to probation, because of the number of his violations of probation and community control.
- 2. The defendant is not amenable to probation because of the timing of these violations.
 - 3. The defendant is extremely dangerous. R34.

The second district reversed, ruling, inter alia, that while multiple probation violations was a valid reason for departure, citing to its decision in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), "<u>Williams</u> required at least two previous findings and sentences for violation of probation before the current violation before the court which permitted the upward departure [sic]."

<u>Roa v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1126, 1128 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (copy attached). The state seeks review in this court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court's recent decision in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 559 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), establishes new criteria for sentencing for multiple probation violations. A one-cell bump is permitted for each violation. In the instant case, there may be up to nine or more individual acts in violation of probation, permitting a nine-cell bump which places respondent in or above the life category, a sentence he is already serving. No remand should be necessary. On the other hand, if this court determines that some lesser number of bumps may be imposed, a remand is necessary to permit the trial court to enter a proper sentence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED AND THE DISTRICT COURT OPINION QUASHED, OR THE CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED FOR SENTENCING PURSUANT TO THIS COURT'S RECENT DECISION IN <u>WILLIAMS V. STATE</u>, 17 F.L.W. S81 (FLA. FEB. 7 1992)

The decision below relied on the lower court opinion of Williams v. State, 559 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). In the intervening period, this court has resolved the issue with its opinion in Williams v. State, 17 F.L.W. S81 (Fla. Feb. 7 1992). This court holds that the trial court is authorized to depart upwards by one cell for each violation of probation:

It is entirely consistent to conclude that where there are multiple violations of probation, the sentence may be successively bumped to one higher cell for each violation. To hold otherwise might discourage judges from giving probationers a second or even a third chance. Moreover, a defendant who has been given two or more chances to stay out of jail may logically expect to be penalized for failing to take advantage of the opportunity.

17 F.L.W. at S82.

Williams raises the question of how violations are to be counted. Should the violator who commits several violations within a short period and is brought to court for a single proceeding for multiple violations be subject to only a one-cell bump, while his brother violater has the bad luck to commit his crimes serially, over a period of time, such that each is subjected to a separate violation proceeding justifying a separate bump up? The state

respectfully urges that it would be against public policy to encourage short intense crime sprees by limiting the bump-up rule to proceedings rather than individual acts in violation of probation.

If each separate act violating probation constitutes a "violation," then nine or more individual acts in violation of the order of probation may have actually occurred. R9 (admitted to using marijuana); R12-13 (DUI, NVDL, possession of a gun, possession of a concealed weapon, kidnapping, aggravated battery, attempted murder); R69 (being in an establishment selling liquor). A nine-cell bump up would place Roa in or beyond the life range, and would not require resentencing, as he already is subject to that sentence. In Williams, this court remanded for resentencing only because the sentence imposed was outside the permitted bump-up range.

The guidelines scoresheet at R31-32 shows a permitted range of up to $5\frac{1}{2}$ years in state prison. Assuming that each proceeding wherein Roa was brought to court for probation or community control violations constituted only one "violation" pursuant to <u>Williams</u>, then the four violation proceedings allow a four cell bump up from the $5\frac{1}{2}$ year cell, or to a maximum of 17 years.

The tragedy of this case is that Roa's repeated violent episodes demonstrate a propensity which will ultimately result in the death of some innocent. It is unfortunate that the original sentence was reversed, considering the egregious trauma to the victim in the burglary/aggravated assault, and the possibility that

a valid reason for departure might well have been given had the court had the benefit of the further development of the departure law since the original sentence was imposed. Instead, the trial court is forced to attempt to fashion a remedy to protect society with the limited tools now available to him.

CONCLUSION

This court should quash the decision of the Second District and affirm the life sentence, or, alternatively, remand for a bump-up consistent with Williams.