WOOA

017

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 30 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By [Signature]
Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

PETITIONER,

v.

CASE NO. 77,612

MARIO ROA,

RESPONDENT.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

✓ HOWARD J. SHIFKE, ESQUIRE
HOWARD J. SHIFKE, P. A.
701 N. FRANKLIN STREET
TAMPA, FLORIDA 33602
PHONE: (813) 228-9514
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 604089
COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent would add the following additional facts.

Prior to the violation of probation involved in this case, Respondent was found in violation of his probation once, only. (R. 50-52). On the instant violation of probation, the Second District Court of Appeal found none of the written reasons for a departure sentence to be valid and the court remanded for resentencing. (Roa v. State, 574 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991)).

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, on April 12, 1991, Respondent was resentenced to 4-1/2 years Florida State Prison to be followed by five years probation. (See attached Appendix "A"). Respondent is on probation at this time and is not serving a life sentence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant violation of probation was the second instance of a violation of probation. In the first violation of probation, Respondent was reinstated on community control and probation. On the instant violation, Respondent was sentenced to life imprisonment, followed by fifteen years, followed by five years.

The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the departure sentence and remanded for resentencing that permitted a one-cell bump. Based on the Court's Williams decision, on the above-outlined facts, it appears that a two-cell bump would have been permitted.

The trial court, however, elected to not bump any cells at the resentencing and gave Respondent a top of guidelines 4-1/2 year sentence of imprisonment to be followed by five years of probation. Respondent has served the prison term and is on probation.

Therefore, this Court should rule that although a two-cell bump would have been permitted at Respondent's resentencing, the Second District Court of Appeal's decision is correct in all other respects and Respondent should not again be resentenced.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED
AND THE DISTRICT COURT OPINION QUASHED, OR
THE CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED FOR RESENTENCING
PURSUANT TO THIS COURT'S RECENT DECISION IN
WILLIAMS v. STATE, 17 F.L.W. S81
(FLA. FEB. 7, 1992)

The trial court resentenced Respondent to a guidelines sentence with no bump ups in cells upon the mandate of the appellate court which permitted a one-cell bump up. This Court should correct the appellate court's decision because Williams would permit a two-cell bump up. Respondent has served the incarceration portion of his resentence and if this Court rules that resentencing is necessary, it should not include any bump ups in cells; Respondent feels resentencing is unnecessary.

Although Petitioner would like to think that multiple violations would be every separate violation listed in an affidavit (even those never pursued by the State), this Court has noted otherwise:

The use of the term 'multiple probation violations' in this opinion refers to successive violations which follow the reinstatement or modification of probation rather than the violation of several conditions of a single probation order.

Williams v. State, 17 F.L.W. S81, 82 fn.3 (Fla. Feb. 7, 1992).

A review of the facts of this case show that Respondent had his probation revoked and reinstated and modified once only prior to the instant probation revocation. Under Williams, a two-cell bump up would be permitted upon resentencing.

The Second District Court of Appeal found that none of the reasons for Respondent's guideline departure sentence were valid

and it remanded for resentencing permitting a one-cell bump up from Respondent's guideline range. Roa v. State, 574 So.2d 1126, 1128 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991).

At the resentencing hearing on April 12, 1991, the trial court resentenced Respondent, whose guideline range was 3-1/2 - 4-1/2 years Florida State Prison, to 4-1/2 years Florida State Prison to be followed by five years probation. (See attached Appendix "A"). The trial court applied the law in effect at the time of Respondent's resentencing and elected to not resentence Respondent to a one-cell bump up from the guidelines range.

Respondent asserts that any resentencing at this juncture would not change the sentence he currently is serving. At resentencing, the trial court knew it could bump up one cell and elected not to bump up the sentence at all.

Since the trial court elected to not bump up the sentence, Respondent asserts that the trial court should not be permitted to resentence Respondent again with the option to bump up the sentence by two cells.

Accordingly, this Court should approve the district court decision with the one correction that at resentencing a two-cell bump would have been permitted. Since the resentencing has taken place already with no bump ups, any further resentencing would unfairly prejudice Respondent.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, this Court should approve the district court decision with the exception that a two-cell bump would have been permitted at Respondent's resentencing; remand for another resentencing should not take place.